

Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Evaluation Report 6/2000

Making Government Smaller and More Efficient: The Botswana Case



Information from the Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs

The Ministry's Information Section provides information with regard to current foreign policy, trade policy, and development cooperation policy. Material can be ordered from fax no. + 47 22 24 27 87

Foreign Ministry switchboard Tel. + 47 22 24 36 00 Fax + 47 22 24 95 80 or + 47 22 24 95 81

Information is available on the Internet at http://odin.dep.no/ud

Information to the media:

The Ministry's Press Spokesperson and the Senior Information Officer on Development Cooperation can be contacted through the Foreign Ministry switchboard

Foreign journalists:

The Norway International Press Centre, NIPS, is the Foreign Ministry' service centre for foreign journalists in Norway, tel. + 47 22 83 83 10

In countries outside of Norway, information on the Ministry of Foreign Affairs may be obtained from Norwegian embassies or consulates

Published by The Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs September 2000 Printed by Hatlehols Trykkeri AS, Brattvaag Circulation: 1200 E-668 E ISBN 82-7177-620-7

Making Government Smaller and More Efficient: The Botswana Case

A report prepared by

Chr. Michelsen Institute (CMI), Bergen, Norway Botswana Institute of Development Policy Analysis (BIDPA) and the Foundation for Research in Economics and Business Administration, Bergen, Norway

Hildegunn Kyvik Nordås and Abdalla Gergis

Responsibility for the contents and presentation of findings and recommendations rests with the evaluation team. The views and opinions expressed in the report do not necessarily correspond with the views of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Table of Contents

Authors' foreword
Abbreviations
Fact sheet Botswana 1998 8
Executive Summary
1 Introduction
2 Adjusting to declining per capita transfers from abroad
3 How large should government be?15 3.1 The fiscal aspect153.2 The efficiency aspect19
4 What activities should government undertake?
5 Efficient resource allocation – a comparison 26 5.1 Education 26 5.2 Health 30 5.3 The public sector – effective at the macro level, ineffective at the sectoral level? 34
6 Social justice and income distribution 35 6.1 Income distribution and growth 35 6.2 Distribution policies – taxes versus benefits 35 6.3 Redistribution policies – government provision or transfers 37
7 Challenges ahead and lessons for other developing countries 39 7.1 Challenges ahead 39 7.2 Lessons for other developing countries and donors 40
References

Tables

Table 3.1	Sectoral GDP and tax revenues, 1993/94–1997/98	15
Table 3.2	Assumptions on growth rates	17
Table 3.3	Outcomes 2017	18
Table 3.4	Distribution of skill categories among sectors 1993/94	21
Table 4.1	Factor payments (P million) from the 1992/93 SAM	24
Table 5.1	Measures of educational attainment for Botswana 1960–90 (per cent)	26
Table 5.2	Sample means of educational attainment variables (per cent)	27
Table 5.3	Illiteracy rate (percentage of population 15+)	28
Table 5.4	Public expenditure on education (per cent of GDP)	28
Table 5.5	Expenditures on education as a share of total government expenditures	28
Table 5.6	Shares of schooling and higher education in total government	
	expenditures on education	29
Table 5.7	Predicted and actual values of educational outcomes for Botswana	29
Table 5.8	Shares of clinics and hospitals in total government health expenditures	31
Table 5.9	Health spending and personnel	31
Table 5.10	Safe water, percentage of total population with access	32
Table 5.11	Sanitation, percentage of population with access	32
Table 5.12	Child immunization, percentage of children under 12 months vaccinated	33
Table 5.13	Health performance indicators	34
Table 6.1	Income distribution and tax and benefits	36
Table 6.2	Education level by income group, percentage of total	37

Figures and boxes

Figure 3.1	Government expenditure as share of GDP	16
Figure 3.2	Budget deficit (as share of GDP) projections	18
Box 1		19
Figure 3.3	Economic growth and scale of government.	20
Box 2		21
Figure 4.1	Composition of government expenditure on private goods	23

Authors' foreword

This report presents the synthesis of a study commissioned by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. It was jointly undertaken by the Christian Michelsen Institute, Botswana Institute of Development Policy Analysis and the Foundation for Research in Economics and Business Administration during 1998/99. The mandate of the study was to provide a research-based, in-depth analysis of the public sector in Botswana. The purpose of the study was three-fold:

- 1) Assess the performance of key public service sectors compared to a sample of other developing countries;
- 2) Assess the future scale and scope of government given:
 - a) Its future revenue base, which is likely to decline substantially during the next decades;
 - b) The future challenges facing the government of which the HIV/AIDS epidemic and widespread poverty are the most central;
 - c) The need to sustain growth and development in the face of a relative decline in mineral revenue.
- 3) Draw lessons for other developing countries and donors.

The study resulted in 6 research papers (see the reference list at the end of the report), which were submitted to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs in the form of a draft report, including an introductory chapter and a chapter summarizing the findings and drawing of lessons for other developing countries, in August 1999. The present report is a synthesis of these research papers. It focuses on the transitionary problems facing countries which have been dependent on transfers of foreign exchange for a long period of time when such transfers level off, and the role and performance of the government in a comparative perspective.

Bergen, 19 June 2000

Abbreviations

BCL BDC	Bamangwato Concessions Ltd. Botswana Development Corporation
CSO CTO	Central Statistics Office Central Transport Organization
DABS DPPS	Department of Architecture and Building Services Department of Printing and Publishing Services
FAP	Financial Assistance Policy
GDP	Gross domestic product
HDI	Human development index
IMF	International Monetary Fund
NDP	National Development Plan
NEC	Not elsewhere classified
OECD	Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development
PPP	Purchasing power parity
SACU SME	Southern African Development Community Small and medium-sized enterprises
UNDP	United Nation's Development Program

Fact sheet Botswana 1998

Population	1.6 mill
Population density	3 per square km
GDP per capita	USD 3,070
GDP growth rate	3.5
Life expectancy	46 years
Infant mortality rate	62 per 1000 live births
Under 5 mortality rate	105 per 1000 children
Urban population	49 per cent of total
Government revenue	44.4 % of GDP
Exports	35 % of GDP
Imports	33.8 % of GDP

Industrial structure:

Agriculture	3.6 % of GDP
Industry	46.1 % of GDP
Services	50.4 % of GDP

Executive Summary

This report assesses the role, scale and scope of government in Botswana; a maturing mineralled economy. It discusses the development problems commonly found in countries that receive large inflows of foreign exchange from exports of minerals. A much larger share of such income accrues to the government than from other sources of income. Therefore, these countries tend to have a large public sector. When mineral exports level off, government has to increase taxes or reduce spending in order to avoid escalating budget deficits. This report argues that aid transfers beyond the recipient country's absorption capacity have similar effects.

In Botswana, diamond mining accounts for about 50 per cent of government revenue directly and another 17 per cent indirectly through interest on accumulated reserves generated by the mining sector. The mineral sector pays about 60 per cent of its value added in taxes, royalties and dividends to the government. Other industries are only taxed at an effective rate of about 25 per cent, and the corporate tax for manufacturing is as low as 15 per cent. Assuming stagnation in mineral revenue, government revenue will decline from the present 42 per cent of GDP to about 30 per cent in 20 years. Consequently, government expenditure relative to GDP has to be reduced by at least 10 percentage points of GDP. This requires a major restructuring of the public sector and a redefinition of its role in the economy.

The Botswana Government has ventured into most aspects of economic and social activities. This it has done not for ideological reasons, but in order to get socioeconomic development off the ground in the absence of private enterprises and entrepreneurs. Over time, government provision of goods and services has created high barriers to entry for the private sector and has become part of the problem rather than part of the solution. Furthermore, lack of focus has over-extended government implementation capacity and undermined quality in basic public services such as health and education.

The quality of government core services is assessed through a comparison to a sample of 66 developing countries and, at a more detailed level, to a sample of 6 countries. The comparison shows that Botswana spends much more on education than the sample average. Yet, Botswana scores below average on educational attainment and literacy rate, where performance is close to that of Tanzania. Relative performance is somewhat better in the health sector, but Botswana appears to obtain health at a higher cost than the sample averages. While primary health care appears to be highly cost-effective in Botswana, expenditure on hospitals appears to be less effective and it appears to have worsened over time. The recent surge in the HIV/AIDS epidemic has put a tremendous strain on the health sector, and has reversed and almost wiped out the improvements in health conditions achieved over the past 30 years.

A high incidence of poverty was singled out as a explanation for central below-average performance in educational attainment. This because poor people cannot afford to send their children to school, even if it is free of charge. The larger the share of the population that lives in poverty, the slower the human capital accumulation and the slower the economic growth. It has, in fact, been established that initial income distribution is a strong predictor of future growth; i.e., the more equal distribution at the outset, the higher the subsequent growth. In Botswana, 38 per cent of the population lives in poverty in spite of the fact that the country is a middle-income country and has been so for more than a decade. In order to accelerate the accumulation of human capital, and thereby broad-based economic growth, the poverty problem urgently needs to be addressed.

This requires redefinition of the role of government, a clear focus on priority areas and strengthening the capacity to *implement* programmes and projects. The Botswana government is deservedly praised for being uncorrupt, prudent and high scoring on the quality of bureaucracy compared to the sample average of the 66 countries. Nevertheless, the sheer size of government has outgrown its capacity for effective policy implementation.

Typically between one half and three quarters of total aid transfers accrue to the government in recipient countries. When aid flows level off, or even dry up, aid recipients face a similar situation as the one described for Botswana. Tanzania and Uganda, for example, have both downsized the public sector by more than 10 percentage points of GDP when aid leveled off and declined.

The Botswana Government's development strategy, supported by donors, has many parallels in the developing world. The motivation for aid at the outset was to accelerate development, and donors took on the tasks necessary to get development off the ground. When results were disappointing because of bottlenecks in the recipient countries, donors ventured into new areas, the most recent being so-called social capital. As in the case of Botswana, temporary bridging arrangements by government or donors tend to become permanent and develop their own dynamics.

Lessons for donors:

- Aid to recipient countries' governments should aim at improving the quality of core government services rather than expanding the scope of government;
- The government budget deficit should be kept at sustainable levels;
- When the scale and scope of recipient governments are larger than what is considered optimal, donors should be careful about conditioning adjustment loans on that the recipient government mobilizes additional local resources.

1 Introduction

In a recent assessment of aid undertaken by the World Bank (World Bank 1998), Botswana is held out as a "spectacular success" of foreign aid. The World Bank explains the success by the quality of the bureaucracy and sound macroeconomic management. The study finds that financial aid has no impact on economic growth unless it is given in a context of good government in general and sound macroeconomic management in particular. Therefore, it is argued, foreign aid should be given to countries with "good policies" and, where good policies are not in place, the transfer of ideas and knowledge is more important than the transfer of money.

Both the 1997 World Development Report and the recent "Assessing Aid" study were concerned with the role of government in development. They both give examples of governments that have been catalysts and driving forces for growth and development and governments that have turned out to constitute obstacles to growth and development. The Botswana government is largely seen as having substantial capacity for development planning and is perceived as market-friendly and a catalyst for growth. Nevertheless, the present scale and scope of government appear to be unsustainable both from a financial point of view and in terms of utilizing scarce resources that might have better alternative uses. The Botswana Government states the problem as follows in the 1997/98-2002/03 National Development Plan, NDP 8: "The current size and structure of the public sector are not sustainable and measures will be put in place to 'right-size' and rationalise the public sector during NDP 8. These will entail, among others, the hiving off of some activities to the private

sector and the introduction of credible measures for improving productivity in the public service" (NDP p. xxi).

This report analyzes the sustainability and performance of the Botswana public sector in a comparative perspective and is organized as section follows. The next discusses development problems in countries that receive large inflows of foreign exchange, e.g., from exports of natural resources or from aid. Section 3 makes projections on the maximum level of revenue the Botswana government can raise from local sources during the next two decades and argues that there is a need to downsize the public sector's share of total GDP by at least 10 percentage points of GDP. The maximum level of government activity is not necessarily the optimal level, however. In sections 4 and 5 we discuss the optimal size of government given its development objectives and the effectiveness of its operations. Hence, chapter 4 discusses efficient resource allocation between the private sector and the government in more detail, while section 5 assesses the effectiveness of government in its provision of services compared to a sample of developing countries. One of the most urgent development challenges facing Botswana today is poverty and income inequality. The Government's role in reducing poverty and achieving a more equal distribution of income is discussed in section 6. Throughout the report Botswana's performance is compared with other relevant countries and lessons for other developing countries facing a decline in per capita transfers from abroad are drawn. These lessons are further elaborated and summarized in section 7, which concludes the report.

2 Adjusting to declining per capita transfers from abroad

Botswana's remarkable economic development since independence has largely been fueled by mineral revenue. The country has in addition received substantial amounts of foreign aid, particularly during the early years of independence. These flows of foreign exchange have funded large-scale investments in infrastructure, the establishment and expansion of a relatively modern and effective public sector and the institutions normally found in a modern economy. During the boom years the economy experienced one of the highest rates of economic growth in the world, resulting in an 8-fold increase in real per capita income between 1968 and 1997.

Consequently, Botswana reached the stage of a mature mineral-exporting country in the early 1990s (Auty and Mikesell 1998). This means that mineral export revenue has reached a plateau in absolute terms and has started to decline in per capita terms and as a share of GDP. Many countries have experienced a slowdown in economic growth and even an absolute decline in per capita income at this stage of mineral-led development. Thus, out of 24 mineral-exporting developing countries analyzed by Auty and Mikesell (1998), only 5 had a positive rate of growth in income per capita during the period 1980–92.¹ The most publicized growth failures are mature oilexporting countries such as Venezuela, Algeria, and Nigeria, while the largest fall in income per capita occurred in Jordan, Niger and Gabon.² It should, however, be noted that most of these countries grew rapidly during the early phases of mineral-led growth and reached a relatively high *level* of income before stagnation and decline set in.

Development aid has many of the properties of mineral rents. First, it is largely a "free" source of foreign exchange that allows the country to expand domestic expenditure through an increase in imports. Second, a much larger portion of aid accrues to government than from other sources of income, and allows for a larger public sector than other countries at the same level of income can afford in the absence of foreign transfers. Finally, aid inflows tend to fluctuate and eventually stagnate and decline in terms of transfers per capita.

Botswana's adjustment to becoming a mature mineral-exporting country coincided with a sharp decline in foreign aid transfers. The country's experience is therefore highly relevant to aid-dependent countries facing stagnation or decline in aid flows. The analysis of adjustment problems starts here with a brief discussion of the insights from empirical and theoretical research on mineral-led growth.

The problems related to substantial transfers of foreign exchange over an extended period of time include:

- A transfer of foreign exchange tends to lead to an appreciation of the local currency. The economy becomes more import-intensive as a consequence, and often runs into balance of payment problems when the transfers level off or decline;
- Mineral rents and foreign aid are more likely to be spent on investment compared to other sources of income. This usually leads to higher growth, but over-investment and misallocation of resources are common in mineral-exporting and aid dependent countries;
- A larger portion of mineral rents and foreign aid accrues to government than from other sources of income. This typically leads to an over-extended public sector and

¹⁾ The five countries are Indonesia, Colombia, Chile, Oman and Botswana.

²⁾ The annual average rate of decline in GDP per capita during the period 1980–92 was -5.4, -4.3 and -3.7 per cent for Jordan, Niger, and Gabon respectively.

budget deficits and often a financial crisis when transfers level off or decline.

The balance of payment problems following stagnation or decline in transfers are due to the fact that it takes time to adjust by replacing imports with local goods and services and replacing mineral exports (or aid) with nonmineral exports. A depreciation of the exchange rate is usually part of the adjustment process. In the long run this helps to narrow the balance of payments deficit, but in the short run more expensive imports and higher costs of servicing foreign debt in terms of local currency may worsen the balance of payment.

If the opportunity cost of capital earned from mineral rents and foreign aid is perceived to be close to zero, the required return to investment may be very low. When the social rate of return to investment falls below the international cost of capital, this is clearly a symptom of misallocation of resources. Since the return to investment typically declines with the per capita stock of capital, the following happens when resource rents or foreign aid level off:

- The cost of capital increases with the diminishing amount of "free" sources for investment financing;
- Investors therefore require a higher return to their investments, and consequently they wish to hold a smaller stock of capital;
- Capital flight results and the rate of investment becomes insufficient to replace obsolete capital.

The capital stock and the real income per capita will in other words adjust to a sustainable level from above, causing an extended period of stagnation or recession. This is what many of the mineral-exporting countries studied in Auty and Mikesell (1998) experienced.³

Since a higher proportion of both aid and mineral rent accrues to the government than from local sources of income, government either has to downsize its activity level or to increase taxes when foreign aid or mineral rent inflows stagnate or decline. Most reform programmes in aid-dependent developing countries aim at a combination of these two measures. Since it is easier to expand than to downsize the public sector, however, loss of revenue often leads to substantial tax increases and erosion of the quality of public sector services rather than downsizing. Both large tax increases and erosion of the quality of core public services have a negative impact on economic growth.

Stagnation or decline in per capita income during an adjustment process induced by a fall in per capita foreign transfers can be avoided in three ways. First, financial resources in excess of the absorption capacity of the economy can be invested abroad during the period of increasing transfers. Second, it is possible to design a policy mix of monetary, fiscal and exchange rate policies that keeps the public sector expansion in check, keeps inflation in check, and prevents wages from increasing beyond productivity improvements. Third, industrial and labour market policy can ensure that entrepreneurship is encouraged and that there are sufficient incentives for investment in productive activities and skills. All these measures *prevent* a crisis from occurring and would give somewhat slower growth in the early phases of mineral-led growth. It is, however, easier said than done to design such a policy mix, and very few mineral-exporting countries and aid dependent countries have managed the transition without a sharp slow-down in economic activity.

Botswana is held out as one of the exceptions to the dismal growth performance of mature mineral-exporting countries. The country has actually invested some of its mineral revenue abroad, and has very little external debt. Furthermore, an exceptionally high growth rate has been sustained for three decades. Nevertheless, the public sector has expanded

³⁾ See also Rodriguez and Sachs (1999) for a theoretical analysis of the adjustment process, which is then applied to Venezuela.

beyond what can be sustained when the mineral sector matures. Furthermore, there are indications that the return to investment is quite low both in the private and the public sector. Finally, the economy has only recently reached the mature stage of mineral-led growth, and it remains to be seen whether the necessary adjustments will foster new engines of growth and development.

3 How large should government be?

3.1 The fiscal aspect

Botswana's current economic objectives centre on diversification of sources of income and moving away from its historical dependence on diamonds and government. The primary aim is to ensure economic growth into the future as the mineral sector growth slows down. Diversification of economic activities would address the problems of unemployment and poverty through employment creation and economic growth. Apart from these objectives, diversification changes the structure of the economy and the nature of economic activities. It therefore has important implications for the ability of government to raise revenue through taxation and for its ability to finance its expenditure. The key point is that any diversification will cause government revenues to fall, in relative terms. The diamond sector is extremely profitable, and those profits are taxed at a very high rate. As the economy diversifies, other sectors will emerge that will be less profitable and less highly taxed.

Table 3.1 clearly illustrates this point. While government receives almost 60 per cent of value added in mining as taxes, royalties and dividends, it receives less than half of this in taxes from the non-mining private sector. Clearly, as the relative share of the mineral sector in GDP declines, government revenue as a share of GDP declines with it. All figures in the table are period averages over the 5-year period.

Table 3.1 Sectoral GI	OP and tax revenues,	1993/94-1997/98
-----------------------	----------------------	-----------------

	Share of GDP	Tax revenue as per cent of sectoral GDP	Per cent of total govt. revenue
Mining	35.5	57.3	49.6
Private sector (excl. mining)	49.5	28.0	33.5
Government	14.9	n/a	16.9
Total	100.0	41.3	100

Source: Jeffris (1999)

Figure 3.1 below depicts development in government spending as a per cent of GDP during the period 1983/84–1998/99. A trend line has been inserted. The figure shows large

fluctuations in government expenditure, but a clear upward trend. A continuation of this trend is no longer feasible and is incompatible with diversification of the economy.



Figure 3.1 Government expenditure as share of GDP⁴

In spite of this increasing trend, the Government has run a budget surplus over most of the period concerned. This has resulted in accumulation of reserves that generate interest income, which accounts for about 17 per cent of total government revenue on average during the period 1993/94–1997/98, as can be seen from table 3.1.

In order to illustrate the adjustments needed to finance future government expenditure, some projections have been made of the maximum resources the government can raise under various assumptions.⁵ The projections show that under a variety of different assumptions about sectoral growth rates, taxation and spending, government will have to significantly reduce its role in the economy. The base case scenario indicates that revenues will drop from around 40 per cent of GDP at present to 30 per cent over a 20-year period. Such a change will have major implications for choices to be made about the allocation of public expenditure.

Table 3.2 below presents the basic assumptions behind two scenarios, the base case scenario and a less optimistic scenario regarding the speed at which the non-mining private sector picks up steam. The table depicts actual growth rates by sector for 1998, and assumed annual average growth rates for 1999 and the period 2000–17.

The base case yields annual GDP growth between 3 and 4 per cent during the period 2000–17, while the slow growth case yields annual growth rates between 1.7 and 2 per cent during the same period. In either case growth is much lower than Botswana's growth performance during the 1980s and early 1990s.

⁴⁾ Note that government expenditure/GDP refers to current and development government expenditure as a share of total GDP, while the government share of GDP presented in tables 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 refers to government production of services relative to total production of goods and services in the economy.

⁵⁾ See Jeffris (1999) for further details.

	1998	1999	2000–17
Base case			
Mining	0	15	0
Private non-mining	6	6	6
Government 10		3	2
Total economy	6.3	8.7	3.7
Slow growth case			
Mining	0	15	0
Private non-mining	6	4	3
Government	10	2	2
Total economy	6.3	7.7	2

Table 3.2 Assumptions on growth rates

Government spending will fall from the current 42 per cent of GDP to 32 per cent of GDP after 20 years in the base case scenario. However, because government spending grows relatively slowly (2 per cent a year), the situation is sustainable. After initially running a budget deficit, the government eventually returns to a budget surplus in year 2013. All budget deficits can be financed from the accumulated reserves. The reserves fall from current levels, but are not depleted; hence earnings from the reserves continue to provide a significant proportion of overall tax revenues.⁶ The reason that this scenario is sustainable is that government spending grows at a lower rate than the overall economy, and remains within the constraints of the lower growth rate of revenues imposed by the structural economic shift.

The base case scenario assumes a relatively high rate of growth for the non-mining private sector. However, this is by no means assured. For comparison, middle-income countries experienced an annual average growth rate of 6.7 per cent in manufacturing and 3.3 per cent in services during the period 1990–97, while the corresponding figures for sub-Saharan Africa were 1.1 and 2 per cent respectively (World Bank 1999). Scenario 2 therefore assumes that the private sector grows at 3 per cent a year from the year 2000, e.g., closer to the sub-Saharan experience. Government spending grows at 2 per cent a year from 1999 onwards.

The second scenario shows how crucial diversification and growth in the non-mining sector is to government finances. With the slow growth of the private sector, and hence in total tax revenues, a government growth rate of 2 per cent becomes unsustainable. Government savings are depleted by year 2012, and the government budget deficit reaches 13 per cent of GDP by year 2017! Government revenue (net of interest) declines to 29 per cent of GDP. This scenario represents the adjustments so many maturing mineral-exporting countries have experienced before: declining GDP per capita and huge budget deficits. In order for the government budget to become sustainable with slower private sector growth, the growth rate of public spending must be cut from 2 per cent to 1 per cent a vear (Jeffris 1999). Although the government would still exhaust its reserves, the deficit is contained at a manageable level.



Figure 3.2 Budget deficit (as share of GDP) projections

Projections of the composition of GDP and taxes are presented in table 3.3:

Table 3.3 Outcomes 2017

	Share of GDP	Share of taxes	Taxes/GDP
Base case			
Mining	19	35	11
Private non-mining	69	61	19
Government	12	4	1
Total	100	100	32
Slow growth case			
Mining	27	55	16
Private non-mining	56	56	16
Government	17	-11	-3
Total	100	100	29

The above analysis shows that the maximum share of total GDP the government can spend without running into unsustainable deficits is about 30 per cent. At present the share is 42 per cent, meaning that a major restructuring of the public sector is necessary. In the next section we will analyze whether the maximum share is the optimum share. Box 1 draws some lessons for aid-dependent countries and donors from Botswana's experience regarding the scale of government.

Box 1

The scale of government and development aid

Aid has in common with mineral rents that it generates much more government revenue than other sources of income. In Tanzania about 70 per cent of aid flows went to government on average during the 1990s (Bank of Tanzania 1999). Aid then needs to induce local income-generating activities at least 4.5 times the value of aid flows in order to maintain government revenue at the same level relative to GDP when aid flows stagnate or decline. We have assumed about 15 per cent effective tax on local productive activity, which is probably a maximum in the least developed countries. Thus, a 1 million dollars transfer of development aid will have to be replaced by about 4.5 million dollars worth of local value added in order to generate the same level of government revenue.

Most aid-dependent governments do not have reserves to draw on during the transition period. Public sector reform therefore has to be undertaken within a much shorter period of time than Botswana can afford, and often results in a recession during the transition. Tanzania's experience is a case in point. The figure shows government expenditure/GDP, transfers/GDP and government deficit (including grants)/GDP during the period 1968–96.



Tanzania: Government expenditure, aid and government deficit as share of GDP

Following the economic crisis and donor withdrawal in the early 1980s there was a sharp decline in public expenditure. Donors returned in 1986–87, fuelling a mini-boom in public expenditure, followed by a new adjustment process and reduction in transfers from 1994–96. After a lengthy and painful adjustment process, government consumption is back to a sustainable level at about 12 per cent of GDP.

3.2 The efficiency aspect

Government expenditure on infrastructure, education, health, and establishing and maintaining a legal and institutional framework for economic and social activities improves the working of the economy and enhances economic growth. On the other hand, public expenditure requires resources that could alternatively be used for private investment or consumption. Barro (1990) showed that at low levels of government expenditure, an extra dollar allocated to government increases economic growth. As the public sector grows larger, the gains from transferring an additional dollar to the government decline and eventually become negative. This is illustrated by figure 3.3, which shows a stylized example. As government expenditure increases, a peak is reached on an inverted u-shaped curve, and additional government expenditure becomes an impediment to economic growth thereafter.



Figure 3.3 Economic growth and scale of government

Dowrick (1996) tested Barro's model empirically.⁷ His results support Barro's finding that there is an optimal size of government that maximizes long-run growth. However, the optimal size varies across countries and over time. The maximum size is smaller in poor countries, but sparsely populated countries need a somewhat larger government because it is more expensive in per capita terms to provide infrastructure and a minimum level of government institutions in these. Dowrick (1996) ran a regression that included 116 countries (among them Botswana) and found that the optimal size of government in terms of government consumption as a share of GDP (both measured in nominal terms) ranges between 10 and 18 per cent. Among the 116 countries included in the regression, Botswana ranked as number 107 according to government consumption/GDP starting with the country with the lowest share (e.g., only 9 countries in the sample have a higher government consumption/GDP ratio than Botswana). According to Botswana's own statistics, government consumption was 28 per cent of GDP in 1996/97, twice the average for lower middle-income countries (CSO 1999, World Bank 1999). Botswana thus most likely lies to the right of the peak on the curve in figure 3.3, and would consequently have a higher future long-term growth rate if government consumption was reduced relative to GDP.

Aid or mineral rent could in principle increase public expenditure without increasing taxes and thereby allow a higher optimal expenditure to GDP ratio than could be obtained otherwise. However, resource allocation between the government and the private sector is not just a question of allocating *financial* resources. If human resources are scarcer than financial resources, and human resources can not be imported to fully match demand, government could still crowd out development-enhancing private sector activities by occupying scarce human resources. Table 3.4 shows the allocation of different skill categories among sectors in Botswana. Clearly, the government occupies a large share of all skill categories.

Area of Training	Central govt.	Local govt.	Parastatals	Traditional agriculture	Informal sector	Private sector	Total
No training	14.1	12.3	2.8	18.6	20.3	31.8	100
Humanity	83.1	1.9	1.5	0.6	1.6	11.4	100
Social science	26.5	16.0	8.6	0.5	3.4	45.1	100
Natural science	55.1	11.0	2.0	0.2	1.9	29.9	100
Craft and industry	16.9	11.0	8.9	2.3	15.2	45.6	100
Engineering and							
other technical	39.7	5.8	5.7	0.9	4.2	43.7	100
Service Trades	49.0	7.6	3.4	2.2	8.1	29.7	100
Other	15.1	28.9	7.1	0	0	49	100

Table 3.4 Distribution of skill categories among sectors 1993/94

Source: Republic of Botswana (1998)

In the aggregate, central government accounted for about 30 per cent of formal sector employment, while local government added another 7 per cent in 1998. Total public sector employment, including the parastatals, accounted for about 43 per cent of total employment (CSO 1999). Looking at recent trends, the share of central government in total employment increased from 25 to 30 per cent during the 5-year period 1992–97, while local government employment increased from 6 to 7 per cent of the total. There has, in other words, been a substantial increase in the government share of total employment, as well as an increase in the absolute number of government employees. This happened during a period of slow growth in overall employment. Thus, during the 5-year period (1992-1997) total employment increased by only about 4 per cent, while central government employment increased by 22 per cent.

The NDP 8 states that the vacancy rate in the public sector was 9 per cent in the middle of 1996. This was due to shortages of people with relevant skills, especially sciences and mathematically based occupations, teachers and managerial level personnel. This means that in order to maintain quality at the present level of government activity, e.g., filling the vacancies, an even larger share of professional and skilled labour is needed, which only underscores the need for scaling back the government activity level.

Box 2 below illustrates that "big government" was not the engine of growth in early stages of development in the presently rich, industrial nations. Neither was public expenditure an engine of growth in the newly industrialized Asian economies, although the governments did intervene in the economy through their industrial policy. Thus, there are few sustainable growth success stories where government expenditure has been the driving force.





What activities should government undertake? 4

If we assume that the Botswana Government can spend a maximum of 30 per cent of GDP, how should it allocate its expenditure, and should the Government aim for spending the maximum 30 per cent of GDP? The answer to the first question depends on the Government's priorities and objectives, and the social and economic situation in the country. The second question relates to efficient allocation of resources and finding a division of labour between the government and the private sector that yields the highest level of welfare. Since the government still receives mineral rents, it is also a question of how to transform mineral wealth into productive capacity that will benefit future generations.

Starting with priorities and objectives, the Botswana Government defined 4 development objectives soon after independence, and has maintained them ever since. These are (Government of Botswana 1997, NDP 8):

- 1) Rapid economic growth,
- 2) Social justice,
- 3) Economic independence and
- 4) Sustained development

The first and third objectives have clearly been obtained. The second objective of social justice, however, leaves much to be desired if we interpret social justice as a more equal distribution of income. In spite of numerous social development programmes, rural development programmes and financial assistance to small-scale local businesses, income distribution is still highly unequal and the incidence of poverty is very high for a country at Botswana's level of income. Sustained development depends on the country's ability to diversify, which so far has been somewhat disappointing. This raises the question of how the scale and scope of government are related to the diversification objective.

It is important to distinguish between government provision of basic public goods such as enforcing law and order and the enforcement of contracts, on the one hand, and private goods that in principle can be sold in the market, on the other. It was previously argued that, up to a certain point, public goods and services enhance economic growth and development. Furthermore, it is well known that public intervention is necessary in order to obtain an efficient provision of public goods and rectify market failure. It is important, however to bear in mind that government can not always correct market failures and that it seldom has sufficient statistical knowledge to know exactly what it should do.⁸ This section focuses on the government's role in the provision of private goods. In order to get the background for the role of government in Botswana at the turn of the century, we need to take a step back in the country's history:

At independence in 1966, Botswana was a poor country with a very small population of about half a million people. The industrial base and infrastructure public were extremely underdeveloped. But the discovery of minerals, especially of diamonds in the 1970s, changed the situation tremendously. The revenue from the mining sector together with greatly increased Customs Union revenue after the renegotiation of SACU in 1969, made it possible for the government to provide many social amenities. To speed up development efforts, with very little private sector presence in industrial and commercial activities, the Government found it necessary to develop and support many of these functions within its own organization. This was done through three main methods:

• Setting up a parastatal by an Act of Parliament;

- Indirectly through the Government's investment arm, the Botswana Development Corporation (BDC), which was established in 1970⁹;
- By creating departments, which performed tasks that in most developed economies would be predominantly performed by the private sector, such as the Central Transport Organisation (CTO), the Government Printer, etc.

Thus, over the years, government investment extended to hotels, tourism, repair and maintenance operations, construction services including architectural services, publishing, transport, financial institutions, agriculture and estates management. Parastatal institutions have played a key role in the economy. In fact, it has been noted that non-financial parastatals aside from two mining companies - Debswana and BCL (the copper/nickel mining company) – are some of the largest institutions operating in Botswana (World Bank, 1989). In short, government has been playing a dominant role in the economy and has been the largest employer. Based on available data, government spending in Botswana was growing faster than any country in the world during the period 1965-1989.

Central government expenditure on private services accounted for about 25 per cent of total recurrent expenditure and about 5 per cent of GDP in Botswana in the late 1990s. Figure 4.1 shows the composition of this expenditure category in 1996/97.¹⁰ The share of total expenditure going to services that are private in nature and could be provided by the market is not particularly high from an international perspective. However, given the relatively high government expenditure share of total national income, and the dominant role of parastatals in the economy (not included in the 25 per cent), the share of GDP that government spends,



Figure 4.1 Composition of government expenditure on private goods

Source: Central Statistics Office

Transport

directly and indirectly, on private services and goods is relatively high.

Economic services

Government provision typically implies that government agencies or parastatals establish a monopoly position, at least in segments of the market, imposing high barriers to entry for private sector entrepreneurs. A government monopoly is in turn typically characterized by a narrow range of goods and services, slow productivity growth and technological progress, and shortages (e.g., people queuing to get access to the service or good). At early stages of development this may be seen as the only option to provide such services at all, but as the market expands, business opportunities open up if the government steps back. In contrast, if government maintains its dominant position in the economy, it may well contribute to the lack of private supply of goods and services, simply because the government crowds out the private sector. This may happen both in the output and the input markets. Those with access to government-provided goods and services, often at highly subsidized prices, are rarely seen as potential customers for private business. In the input market, government occupies scarce human capital resources, creating shortages of

⁹⁾ In its 1996 Annual Report, BDC reported shareholdings in 66 companies, and investments (equity or loans or both) in 119 companies.

¹⁰⁾ Other services are food and social welfare, local and regional development NEC, urban infrastructure, cultural recreation, broadcasting and press.

skilled labour in the private sector. This is particularly the case when wages are regulated such that the private sector can not attract human capital by raising their wages above government wages. Until the early 1990s, this was the policy in Botswana.

Private goods and services are usually provided most effectively in a competitive market. Hence, a private monopoly is not necessarily better than a government monopoly. We do not have sufficient data to assess the market concentration and competitiveness of the private sector in Botswana. It appears, however, that at the aggregate level the government is at least as effective as the private sector. The relative prices of government services have in fact declined compared to private sector services during the 1990s (Nordås 2000). In addition, it appears that the return to invested capital in the non-mining, non-financial private sector is quite low. Data from the 1992/93 Social Accounting Matrix (SAM), reported in table 4.1, illustrate the point.

Table 4.1 Factor payments	; (P	million) from	n the	1992/93 \$	SAM
---------------------------	------	---------------	-------	------------	-----

Factor of production	Industries	Mining	Central govt.	Local govt.
Professional and technical, citizens	459	34	262	39
Professional and technical, non-citizens	258	31	70	4
Administrative and managerial, citizens	164	2	44	8
Administrative and managerial, non-citizens	165	14	18	1
Clerical, citizens	404	17	219	38
Clerical, non-citizens	5	0	0	0
Skilled manual, citizens	540	182	122	24
Skilled manual, non-citizens	75	24	0	0
Unskilled	413	41	140	25
Informal sector	550	0	0	0
Net operating surplus	1045	2532	0	36
Depreciation	1003	157	489	0
Net taxes and subsidies	-30	1	0	0
Total value added	5052	3034	1363	176

Source: Central Statistics Office, 1996

Table 4.1 gives a more detailed breakdown of skill levels than table 3.4. Besides, it distinguishes between citizen and non-citizen employees. Note, however, that while table 3.4 reports the distribution of employment numbers on sectors, table 4.1 reports the distribution of *payments* to each skill category. There are two important features worth noticing in this table. First, net operating surplus less depreciation of capital stems almost entirely from the mineral sector, as the net operating surplus in the private industries is only marginally above what is needed to replace outdated capital. This indeed reflects the point discussed in section 2; a very low cost of financial resources may lead to low return to invested capital.

A second feature worth noticing in table 4.1 is that shortages in skilled labour can be overcome to some extent by importing workers. Thus, more than a third of total payments to professional and technical employees, and half of total payment to administrative and managerial employees go to non-citizens in all industries (except the mining sector) combined. In the mining sector, the share to non-citizen professional, technical, administrative and managerial staff is even larger, reaching more than 85 per cent in the administrative and managerial category. This probably increases labour costs in the private sector significantly, as expatriates have to be remunerated at internationally competitive rates.

Relatively low return on capital and low productivity apply to the private non-mining sector on average and do not imply that there are no internationally competitive companies in Botswana, which indeed exist. Nevertheless there is a danger that government provision of private goods and services alongside generous subsidies through the Financial Assistance Policy (FAP) have distorted incentives for entrepreneurs. Besides, the fact that the government until recently employed university graduates by default may have contributed to lack of skilled and professional workers in the private sector. Thus, the sheer size of the public sector combined with a small overall market may well have impeded productivity growth in the private sector.

Even if strong government involvement in economic activities was necessary to get development off the ground in the early years, the situation of the economy is presently very different from that of 30 years ago. Firstly, Botswana now has a more developed private sector, capable of supplying goods and services in competition with, or instead of, government. Secondly, the financial sector is more developed, reducing the need for government lending to large enterprises. Thirdly, with the international economic thinking shifting towards less government intervention in the economy, foreign investment tends to be less attracted to an economy with an exceptionally large public sector. Fourth, it is recognized in the current National Development Plan (NDP 8) that the public sector has become too large for the government's capacity to manage it effectively. This suggests that the private sector should take over some of the activities currently undertaken by government wherever that can be done efficiently, leaving government the task (which remains very large) of managing those activities which cannot be adequately, willingly, or efficiently undertaken by the private sector.

There is no economic justification, for instance, for continued government involvement in the provision of urban housing. Many of the public sector activities can be undertaken more efficiently by the private sectors. Even for traditional public goods such as police services, the evidence in Botswana (and elsewhere) indicates that such services are complemented by the private sector through private security services. There is also no economic justification for services such as cleaning services, food services, gardening, refuse collection to be part of the public sector.

Furthermore, government departments, councils and other public bodies provide many other goods and services that are very similar to goods and services produced by the private sector. The Central Transport Organization (CTO), Department of Architecture and Building Services (DABS), Department of Printing and Publishing Services (DPPS), Roads Department, etc. are all good examples. Because the financing of those government agencies is part of the general budget, there is no direct relationship between the value of the good or service provided and the cost of producing it.11 Under these circumstances, on the one hand, it is extremely difficult to evaluate performance of service providers and, on the other, users are not motivated to economize on using these services. The result is generally wasteful resources, poor quality and inefficient delivery of the good or service. Therefore, government should withdraw from these activities and leave them to the private sector. This would also free government resources for improving quality in core activities such as education and health, as will be further discussed below.

¹¹⁾ In fact, most of such services have been provided to the user free of charge or at highly subsidized fees.

5 Efficient resource allocation – a comparison

In most countries, including the OECD countries, productivity is lower in the public sector than in the private sector, and productivity growth is slower (Ferris and West 1996). Botswana appears to be an exception to this empirical regularity. The relative cost of public services has not increased over time compared to the cost of private sector services (Nordås 2000), and productivity in the public sector has grown faster than productivity in the private sector, at least during the period 1974-94 (Mandlebe 1997). Does this mean that the public sector in Botswana is exceptionally effective, or does it mean that the (non-mining) private sector is ineffective, or both? In order to answer that question, Botswana's performance in two important sectors - education and health - is compared to a sample of other countries, focusing on productivity, e.g., how much health and education the country gets from its expenditure compared to other countries. Botswana is first compared to a sample of 66 developing countries on some broad performance indicators.¹² Next, a somewhat more detailed comparison to a smaller sample of 6 countries is provided.

But before discussing the performance of the two key social sectors, it is worth noting that compared to a sample of 66 developing countries, Botswana is more democratic, has a far better bureaucracy, is less corrupt and has a less distortive economic policy than the average country with a similar level of income (Hagen 2000). This finding is based on econometric estimates using several indicators of the quality of government. It is, however, supported by a number of qualitative studies.¹³

5.1 Education

This section first compares Botswana's expenditure and performance in the education sector to the sample of 66 developing countries. Table 5.1 shows data for the educational attainment of the population of Botswana aged 15 years and above at various dates,¹⁴ while table 5.2 shows the sample means of the 66 countries. The very low level of human capital at independence in 1966 is immediately obvious. It can also be seen that the country has made progress in alleviating this deficit. For example, the share of the population with no schooling was almost halved by 1990, while the average total years of schooling more than doubled to 3.75 years.

	No school	Primary complete	Secondary complete	Higher education complete	Total years of schooling	Average years of primary schooling	Average years of secondary schooling	Average years of higher education
1960	65.3	8.0	0.7	0.1	1.72	1.60	0.11	0.01
1965	66.2	6.3	0.5	0.1	1.61	1.50	0.1	0.00
1970	61.2	6.8	0.8	0.4	1.95	1.76	0.17	0.02
1975	58.8	10.0	1.1	0.3	2.24	2.01	0.22	0.02
1980	45.8	15.2	2.3	0.1	3.12	2.77	0.34	0.01
1985	41.7	9.9	1.7	0.2	3.24	2.81	0.41	0.02
1990	35.8	10.0	1.7	0.4	3.75	3.17	0.55	0.03

Table 5.1 Measures of educational attainment for Botswana 1960-90 (per cent)

Source: Barro and Lee (1993, 1996)

¹²⁾ The 66 are the developing countries for which sufficient data is available.

¹³⁾ See for example Harvey and Lewis (1990) and Nordås et al. (1998).

¹⁴⁾ Note that these are point estimates, not averages.

The share of the population of Botswana over age 15 that has completed primary school was 18 per cent below the sample mean in 1990. The corresponding figure for secondary school was 75 per cent. The sample mean of average years of higher education is five times Botswana's 1990-figure! While the pipeline of pupils and students currently in the system will most likely improve the absolute figures, it is not at all clear that Botswana's relative position will become more favourable. Although some progress has been made, Botswana seems to be lagging behind. Admittedly, the country started from a very low level, but given its phenomenal growth rate of income, one would have expected the country to have done much better by now.

	Primary complete	Secondary complete	Higher education complete	Total years of schooling	Average years of primary schooling	Average years of secondary schooling	Average years of higher education
1970	12.33	3.11	0.82	2.95	2.35	0.55	0.05
1975	12.00	3.67	1.02	3.23	2.50	0.66	0.07
1980	12.52	5.15	1.39	3.78	2.80	0.88	0.09
1985	11.89	5.33	1.84	4.09	2.98	0.99	0.12
1990	12.21	6.74	2.43	4.44	3.15	1.14	0.15

Table 5.2 Sample means of educational attainment variables (per cent)

Source: Hagen (2000)

Hagen (2000) also estimated a relationship between GDP per capita level and educational attainment on the basis of data from the 66 country sample. Applying these estimates to Botswana reveals that the country is an underachiever with respect to educational attainment. The deficits are sizeable, particularly with respect to secondary and higher education, where the expected levels were about twice and 3.5 times the actuals respectively in 1990. Even though the figures tend to move in the direction of closing the gaps, and even if we take into account the inevitable inaccuracy of such calculations, there is clearly still a long way to go before Botswana reaches the level of educational attainment commensurate with its level of income.

Educational performance measured by the illiteracy rate does not change the above conclusion when Botswana is compared to a narrower group of countries with some similar features.¹⁵

¹⁵⁾ Tanzania and Uganda are aid-dependent countries, Gabon is a mature mineral-exporting developing country, while Malaysia and Mauritius are two highly successful newly industrialized countries. See Bøe (2000) for further discussion.

	1985		1990		1995	
	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male
Botswana	39.6	18.5	35	16	40.1	19.5
Gabon	56.9	30.1	51.5	26.5	46.7	26.3
Mauritius	22.9	11.3			21.2	12.9
Tanzania					43.2	20.6
Uganda	71.0	42.9	65.1	37.8	49.8	26.3
Malaysia	35.0	16.8	29.6	13.5	21.9	10.9

Table 5.3 Illiteracy rate (percentage of population 15+)

Source: World Development Indicators, The World Bank

Table 5.3 clearly shows that by 1995 Botswana lagged far behind the newly industrialized countries (Malaysia and Mauritius), it performed somewhat better than Gabon and Uganda, but only marginally better than Tanzania, a least-developed country that has given primary education high priority. Moreover, the literacy rate has not improved in Botswana over the decade between 1985 and 1995, as opposed to all other countries in the table except for Mauritius. Is this somewhat disappointing performance a result of neglect on the part of the Botswana Government? In fact it is not. In terms of expenditure on education, Botswana comes out on top both compared to the 66 countries' sample mean and compared to the 5 countries included in table 5.3, as can be seen from tables 5.4 and 5.5.

Table 5.4 Public expenditure on education (per cent of GDP)

	1980	1985	1990	1995
Botswana	7.0 ^a	6.8	7.6	9.6
Gabon	2.7	4.5		3.2 ^c
Mauritius	5.3	3.8	3.7	4.3
Tanzania	4.4	3,6	5.0	
Uganda	1.2	3.0 ^b	1.5	
Malaysia	6.0	6.6	5.4	5.3

a) data from 1979; b) data from 1984; c) data from 1992

Source: World Development Indicators, The World Bank 1998.

Table 5.5	Expenditures	on education	as a share	of total	government	expenditures
					0	

		Sample		Botswana		
	Exp. on	Exp. on higher	Total exp. on	Exp. on	Exp. on higher	Total exp.
	schooling	education	education	schooling	education	on education
1970–75	0.105	0.022	0.159	0.092	0.025	0.131
1976–80	0.096	0.025	0.149	0.153	0.031	0.211
1981–85	0.089	0.022	0.142	0.121	0.027	0.187
1986–90	0.092	0.020	0.142	0.134	0.026	0.195

Source: Hagen (2000)

From table 5.5 it is evident that, except for the first period, Botswana has placed greater priority on education than the average of the

sample. This holds across the board; i.e., for expenditures on primary/secondary education ("schooling"), higher education, and total education.¹⁶ The differences are sizeable, about 50 per cent for schooling, 25 per cent for higher education, and 33 per cent for total expenditures during the 1980s.

It is also possible to analyse how Botswana has divided its educational budget into expenditures on schooling and higher education compared to the sample mean. From table 5.6, it is apparent that the country has put greater emphasis on primary and secondary education, and less on higher education, than the average. For schooling, the relative differences are rather small over the whole period, with Botswana spending about 65–73 per cent of its educational budget on these items, while the mean is very stable at 65–66 per cent. However, in the last three sub-periods, Botswana has spent about three percentage points less of its budget for education on higher education than the average, which means that the share is 15–20 per cent lower.

 Table 5.6 Shares of schooling and higher education in total government expenditures on education

	Sam	nple	Botswana		
	Exp. on Exp. on higher		Exp. on	Exp. on higher	
	schooling	education	schooling	education	
1970–75	0.661	0.153	0.694	0.203	
1976–80	0.665	0.179	0.727	0.146	
1981–85	0.659	0.168	0.651	0.144	
1986–90	0.647	0.161	0.689	0.132	

Source: Hagen (2000)

An empirical analysis investigating how current real total spending on education affects subsequent educational attainment suggests that Botswana is not getting as much out of its spending on education as one would expect. An estimate of the relationship between spending and subsequent attainment is made based on the 66 countries sample, and then applied to Botswana. The result is presented as predicted values in table 5.7 below, and the predicted values are compared to the actual values. The discrepancy between predictions and actual figures is clearly greatest in terms of higher education. The actual values never exceed 25 per cent of the predicted values; the only consolation is that the gap is closing in relative terms. When it comes to schooling, Botswana does not lag that far behind. However, by 1986–90, the actual value was still only about 91 per cent of what the analysis predicts. For average total years of education, the ratio was about the same (89 per cent).

Table 5.7 Predicted and actu	al values of educational	outcomes for Botswana
------------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------

	Predicted average total years of education	Actual average years of total education	Predicted average years of schooling	Actual average years of schooling	Predicted average years of higher education	Actual average years of higher education
1970–75		2.24		2.23		0.02
1976–80	3.79	3.12	3.60	3.11	0.10	0.01
1981–85	3.98	3.24	3.82	3.22	0.12	0.02
1986–90	4.20	3.75	4.09	3.72	0.14	0.03

Source: Hagen (2000)

¹⁶⁾ The latter does not necessarily follow from the first two, as there is a residual category – "other expenditure on education" – which is not shown. The reason why primary and secondary education is lumped together, is that disaggregated data was not available from the source (nor from the primary source, IMF's Government Finance Statistics). Note that it includes spending on pre-primary education as well.

To sum up, Botswana's performance on the accumulation of human capital from education is similar to Tanzania's, in spite of having a GDP per capita about 12 times Tanzania's (measured at PPP), and in spite of having spent about twice as much of its GDP on education. This clearly shows that financial resources are not sufficient to produce the desired results. Furthermore, judging from Tanzania's performance, results can be achieved with limited resources. Since both Botswana and Tanzania have received significant amounts of foreign aid and technical assistance in the education sector, aid does probably not explain the difference in efficiency between Botswana and Tanzania.

Government expenditure on education has probably reached a ceiling in Botswana. The immediate challenge is therefore to identify the reasons for the relatively low productivity of the educational sector. Why is it that Botswana appears to get less value for money in education than the other countries in the samples? Is it due to a mismatch of the curricula and the skills that are needed in the economy? This needs to be assessed through a careful study of the schooling system in relation to the industrial structure of the economy, and lies beyond the scope of this study. Another possible explanation is a small and scattered population and small training units. However, the average number of pupils per teacher is not particularly low in Botswana (Bøe 2000), so this can hardly explain the difference in outcome. Finally, a shortage of qualified teachers and lecturers could partially explain low performance. This has been and still is a problem in Botswana, but it is also a problem in most other developing countries, and is probably not responsible for the difference. Other possible explanations may be found outside the school system itself.

Two likely explanations for lower performance than expected in the education sector are probably related to the high incidence of poverty in Botswana and incentives to acquire skills at the individual level. With 38 per cent of households falling below the poverty line, it is likely that many households can not afford to send their children to school, at least not at the secondary level. This problem is further discussed in section 5.

One would expect that people would invest time and effort in education if it improves their standard of living through a higher probability of getting a well-paid job or better opportunities for self-employment. In Botswana the informal sector is much smaller relative to GDP than in most developing countries, suggesting that this is not a very attractive option. At the same time, transfers account for a larger share of household income than subsistence production of food and other goods (CSO 1995), which could partly explain why informal sector activities are unattractive.

Unemployment stands at about 20 per cent of the workforce, which in turn is about 50 per cent of the working age population (Government of Botswana/UNDP 1998). At the same time there are relatively well-paid jobs for unskilled and semi-skilled workers in the government sector, manufacturing and South African mines. The latter have laid off workers on a large scale over the past few years, but it has until recently been a highly significant source of income to Botswana households. A combination of low incentives to participate in the informal economy and high barriers to entry in the formal economy may have resulted in a situation where expected gains from education, e.g., the difference between expected life-time earnings with and without education, is below what people consider the cost of education, at least for those who can only afford a few years of secondary education. Improving the workings of the labour market may therefore be an important element in a policy aiming at advancing educational attainment.

5.2 Health

Botswana spends about 6 per cent of total government expenditure on the health sector, a figure similar to the sample mean of the 66 developing countries. The Botswana government nevertheless spends a larger share of total GDP than the sample average on health services (about 1.5 per cent as compared to about 1.1 per cent). Comparable data are only available for the period 1986–90 (see table 5.8). At least during that period, Botswana spent somewhat above the mean on hospitals, but substantially less on clinics and practitioners. In fact, the meagre share of the health budget (3.3 per cent) devoted to primary health care is only about 25 per cent of the sample mean (13.6 per cent).

Tuble 010 bhares of chines and hospitals in total government nearth expenditure	Table 5.8	8 Shares	of clinic	s and	hospitals	in total	government	health expenditure
---	-----------	----------	-----------	-------	-----------	----------	------------	--------------------

	Sai	mple	Botswana		
	Exp. on clinics	Exp. On hospitals	Exp. on clinics	Exp. On hospitals	
1986–90	0.136	0.579	0.033	0.602	
C	•		•		

Source: Hagen (2000)

A more detailed comparison of performance can be done within a smaller sample of countries. Table 5.9 compares expenditure shares of real GDP and some measures of the curative capacity, e.g., the quantity of health services resulting from that expenditure.

	Public health expenditure	People per physician		People per nurse		People per hospital bed	
	% of GDP,	1090	1002	1090	1002	1090	1002
	1990-95	1900	1995	1900	1995	1900	1995
Botswana	1.9	8,122	5,151	700	480	421	635
Gabon	0.6	2,184	1,987	225	1,173		305
Mauritius	2.2	1,920	1,165	627	392	320	347
Tanzania	2.8					716	976
Uganda	1.8	21,405	22,399	2,009	6,762	661	760
Malaysia	1.4	3,917	2,441	570	480	439	437

Table 5.9 Health spending and personnel

Source: World Development Indicators, The World Bank

It can be seen that Botswana spends less than Mauritius and Tanzania on health services compared to real GDP, but more than all the other countries included in the table. The most efficient provider of health services appears to be Gabon, spending only 0.6 per cent of GDP on health services and yet performing rather well on the access to health resources indicators.¹⁷ Malaysia also appears to have a relatively efficient use of health expenditure, particularly in primary health care. The picture for Botswana is rather mixed. Recalling that Botswana spends a large share of its health expenditure on hospitals and a small share on primary health care, it appears that primary health care is remarkably effective (persons per

nurse), while expenditure on hospitals appears to be relatively ineffective (people per hospital bed and people per physician).

The Global Strategy for Health for All by the Year 2000, adopted by the World Health Assembly in 1981, marked a radical change in the focus of health and development discussions in multilateral fora. The strategy aimed at attaining a socially and economically productive life for all people by shifting the priority within national health systems towards primary care. The strategy includes a list for monitoring and evaluation. The indicators of primary health care are expressed as percentage of the population with access to:

17) The figures do not take quality and private sector health services into account.

- Safe water in the home or within 15 minutes' walking distance;
- Adequate sanitary facilities in the home or immediate vicinity;
- Immunization against the major infectious diseases;
- Local health care, including the availability of at least 20 essential drugs within one hour's walk or travel, trained personnel for attending pregnancy and childbirth and family planning services.

Tables 5.10–5.12 illustrate measures of outcome of expenditures in these areas. Table 5.10 depicts the percentage of the total population with reasonable access to an adequate amount of safe water. In urban areas the definition implies water from a public fountain or a standpost located no more than 200 meters away. In rural areas the definition implies that members of the household do not have to spend a disproportionate part of the day fetching clean water.

	1970	1975	1985	1995
Botswana	29	45	77	70
Gabon	1		50	67
Mauritius	61	60	99	100
Tanzania	13	39	52	49
Uganda	22		16	42
Malaysia	29	34	71	89

Table 5.10 Safe water, p	percentage of total	population with	access
--------------------------	---------------------	-----------------	--------

a) data from 1988

Source; World Development Indicators. The World Bank.

The only country in the sample with universal access to clean water is Mauritius. Botswana lags behind the middle-income counties in the sample, but performs much better than the least developed ones. Botswana has, however, universal access to safe water in urban areas.¹⁸ Much the same picture emerges when access to sanitation is compared. Mauritius is the only country in the sample with universal access. The difference between middle-income and low-

income countries is smaller for sanitation than for safe water. Botswana comes last in this comparison with even lower access than Tanzania and Uganda. However, Botswana is by far less densely populated than the other countries in the sample. Since per capita costs of sanitation are higher the lower the population density, the cost/benefit ratio of sanitation may be so high in Botswana that this has not been a priority area so far.

Table 5.11 Sanitation, percentage of population with acc	ess
--	-----

	1985	1995
Botswana	36	55
Gabon	50	76
Mauritius	97	100
Tanzania		86
Uganda	13	67
Malaysia	78 ^a	94

a) data from 1988

Source: World Development Indicator, The World Bank

Child immunization is another important factor raising the general health standard thereby promoting general well-being in the population. Table 5.12 provides some data on child immunization, depicting the rate of vaccination against measles and DPT (diphtheria, pertussis or whooping cough and tetanus) among children under one year of age.

	19	981 1985		1990		1997		
	Measles	DPT	Measles	DPT	Measles	DPT	Measles	DPT
Botswana	70	64	68	68	55		79	76
Gabon			58	14	76	78	5	41
Mauritius		82	61	85	76	85	85	89
Tanzania	51	55	66	67	79	78	69	74
Uganda	22	9	17	14	74	77	60	58
Malaysia		54	20	59	70	89	83	91

Table 5.12 Child immunization, percentage of children under 12 months vaccinated

Source: World Development Indicators, The World Bank

On this indicator Botswana's performance is about what could be expected from its level of income and health expenditure.

Turning to local health care, Botswana spends less of its health budget on local, primary health services, but the share has increased over time (Bøe 2000). It is interesting to note that the countries in the sample with the highest share of expenditure on local, primary health care, Malaysia and Gabon, obtain among the highest performance indicators on access to health services (table 5.9) at the lowest cost.

Life expectancy at birth and infant mortality rates are common measures on the overall health standards in a country. Hagen (2000) finds that the level of income is more important than expenditure on health as a determinant for life expectancy. Botswana's performance on life expectancy relative to income and expenditure

on health service is about the same as the sample mean. This does, however, not take into account the sharp decline in life expectancy experienced during the 1990s as a consequence of the AIDS epidemic that has hit Botswana more severely than any other country in the world.¹⁹ Table 5.13 presents the figures for the sample of 6 countries in 1990 and 1998. Here the impact of the AIDS epidemic is clearly seen. Life expectancy has declined by 11 years during the 1990s, and the infant mortality rate has increased by 7 per 1000 live births. This is a much larger deterioration than that experienced in Uganda, which was most seriously affected by AIDS in the late 1980s and the early 1990s. Both Tanzania and Uganda have managed to improve the infant mortality rate during the 1990s, in spite of being heavily affected by the AIDS epidemic, while a reversal of the AIDS epidemic has not yet occurred in Botswana.

	Life expect	ancy at birth	Infant mortality rate		
	1990	1998	1990	1998	
Botswana	57	46	55	62	
Gabon	52	53	96	86	
Mauritius	70	71	20	19	
Tanzania	50	47	99	85	
Uganda	47	42	104	101	
Malaysia	71	72	16	8	

Table 5.13 Health performance indicators

Source: World Bank, 2000

To conclude this section. Botswana had achieved a level of health services that is compatible with other middle-income countries and performed about average for the chosen samples of countries by 1990 on the indicators of access to health services. However, measured by overall health performance indicators such as life expectancy at birth and infant mortality rate, Botswana still lagged behind middleincome countries such as Mauritius and Malavsia in 1990. On these two indicators performance has deteriorated to become more equal to least developed countries after the AIDS epidemic hit the country. The incidence of HIV is close to 25 per cent of the adult population (Granberg 2000), among the highest in the world.

5.3 The public sector – effective at the macro level, ineffective at the sectoral level?

It was indicated earlier that the quality of the bureaucracy in Botswana is much higher than average given the country's level of income. Nevertheless, the productivity in the education sector, and to some extent in the health sector, is significantly below average. How can these two findings be reconciled?

A possible explanation lies in the distinction between the ability to formulate policies, take policy decisions and adhere to budget constraints, on the one hand, and implement the policies and plans on the other. The government has been praised for the former, while its capacity for implementation has been criticized. The government has expanded into a very broad range of activities and undertaken a large number of projects and programmes. However, the extensive scope of government activities has over-stretched its capacity for implementation. As a result, there have been delays and poor project execution, resulting in cost and time overruns, even though the overall budget balance has shown a healthy surplus (Government of Botswana, NDP 8). It may therefore be concluded that the central government in Botswana has established a deserved reputation for clean and competent policy and decision making. However, these high standards do not always apply all the way down to project execution.

6 Social justice and income distribution

6.1 Income distribution and growth

Social justice has been one of the four development objectives of the Botswana Government since independence in 1966. This has also been a priority area for donors who contributed significant financial and technical resources during the first two decades of development. This section briefly discusses Botswana's performance on this issue and the policy measures aiming at a more equal distribution of income.

A commonly used measure of inequality is the Gini coefficient. For Botswana this coefficient was estimated at 0.56 in 1993/94 (BIDPA 1997), which is among the highest in the world.²⁰ Another indicator of income inequality is the difference between the ranking according to GDP per capita and the ranking according to UNDP's human development index (HDI). The difference is -33 for Botswana, (UNDP 1998), meaning that economic development has been faster than social development. Hence, Botswana has been less successful in transforming prosperity into favourable living conditions than the average country in UNDP's ranking. Finally, the share of total households below the poverty line provides additional information on income distribution. The share was 38 per cent in 1993/94 (Government of Botswana/UNDP 1997). This is a notable improvement from earlier estimates, but it is still high, given Botswana's relatively high per capita income, and the period of time since it became a middle-income country

A number of studies have found that a high incidence of poverty and a largely unequal distribution of income are detrimental to economic growth. There is strong empirical support for a negative correlation between initial distribution of income and subsequent economic growth, e.g., the more unequal initial distribution of income, the slower subsequent growth (Perotti 1996, Deininger and Squire 1998).²¹ The channels through which income distribution affects growth are through education and fertility decisions and through sociopolitical stability.

Galor and Zeira (1993) argue that a high incidence of poverty yields a low rate of human capital accumulation, which in turn is the most important determinant of economic growth. Thus, given that education has a cost in terms of tuition fees and/or loss of income from children's work in the household or from wage employment, the larger the share of the population that can not afford to send their children to school, the slower the rate of human capital accumulation and the slower the rate of growth.

Bearing in mind Botswana's record on human capital accumulation and its rate of poverty incidence, this result suggests that there is an urgent need for Botswana to reduce poverty in order to obtain sustainable growth when mining revenues and government activities level off. Some policy measures required to obtain a more equal distribution of income are discussed below.

6.2 Distribution policies – taxes versus benefits

There are two approaches to income distribution policies. One is to redistribute income via taxes and subsidies in order to achieve an equal outcome. Such policies have been considered detrimental to growth because redistribution requires relatively high taxes that in turn create distortions and disincentives (see section 3.2). In addition, it is argued that high-

²⁰⁾ The Gini coefficient has a value between 0 and 1. The higher the value, the more unequal the income distribution.

²¹⁾ Deininger and Squire (1998) argue that the relation is strong when looking at initial distribution of assets such as land, while the relation is not as robust as previously thought when looking at initial distribution of income. They reach this conclusion from new and better data sets.

income groups have a higher propensity to save than poor people, and that means that redistribution of income would lead to lower savings and investment and thereby slower growth. While the first argument is widely accepted, the second is highly controversial. Furthermore, the literature on income distribution through taxation and subsidies suggest that there are limits to what can be achieved from such measures. Harberger (1998) demonstrates through a very simple example that even a very progressive tax system does not change income distribution much. His example is reproduced here, but with data for Botswana's income distribution to illustrate his point.

Income group (quintile)	Income and distribution before tax	Тах	Income after tax	After-tax distribution	Benefits	Income after tax and benefits	After-tax and benefit distribution
	(1)	(2)	(3)=(1)-(2)	(4)	(5)	(6)=(3)+(5)	(7)
First	2.5	0.0	2.5	3.49	2.84	5.34	6.22
Second	6.5	1.0	5.5	7.68	2.84	8.34	9.72
Third	12.0	2.4	9.6	13.41	2.84	12.44	14.51
Fourth	20.0	5.0	15.0	20.95	2.84	17.84	20.79
Fifth	59.0	20.0	39.0	54.47	2.84	41.84	48.76
Total	100.0	28.4	71.6	100.00	14.20	85.80	100.00

 Table 6.1 Income distribution and tax and benefits²²

For illustrative purposes, a progressive tax system is introduced with the average tax rate increasing from zero in the first quintile to 33 per cent in the fifth quintile. Distribution is presented as the share of total income earned by each quintile in columns (1), (4) and (7). Following Harberger it is assumed that half of tax receipts are spent on services or benefits to which every household have equal access or receives the same amount. The after-tax distribution of income in terms of percentages received by each quintile is better after tax than before tax, as can be seen from comparing the distribution figures in columns (1) and (4). However, the improvement is more than proportionally better after an equal amount of benefits have been distributed among households, as can be seen from column (7) compared to columns (1) and (4) in the table. The poorest quintile improves its relative position from earning 2.5 per cent of total income before taxes and benefits to 3.5 per cent after taxes and 6.2 per cent after taxes and benefits.

The important lesson from table 6.1 is that the tax system has to be very progressive in order to have a significant impact on income distribution. As is well known from the public economics literature, such progressive taxation is highly distortive and is usually associated with substantial efficiency losses. In contrast, services provided by the government in an equal quantity to all households have a more significant impact on income distribution.

The expenditure categories that potentially have the largest distributional effects are primary education, primary health care and services such as safe water and sewerage systems. However, these expenditure categories are often regressive in developing as well as developed countries. Primary schools and health services are quite often of much better quality in affluent areas than in poor urban slums or poor rural areas. Moreover, secondary and tertiary education is often more subsidized than primary education and it is still the case that a larger proportion of relatively well-off children and youngsters attend higher level education. According to Harberger (1998) it

²²⁾ The figures on income distribution are taken from the 1985/86 survey, which is the latest survey undertaken.

would be a great step forward merely to ensure that poor people have access to the same quality public services as their better-off fellow citizens have.

Income group	No education	Primary only	Secondary	Tertiary
Very low economic resources	36.90	48.55	14.41	0.13
Low economic resources	24.06	55.53	20.37	0.05
Better off	15.99	50.33	30.17	3.51

Table 6.2 Education level by income group, percentage of total

Source: Republic of Botswana 1996

Table 6.2 shows education level by income group in Botswana for persons aged 5 and over in 1993/94. This does not fully explain the relation between household income and access to education, since a low income can be a *result* of a low level of education rather than a cause. However, since a large share of the Botswana population is below the age of 20, and there is usually a high correlation between parents' and children's education level, the table gives a rough idea of the distribution of education. The share of the very low economic resource households that has obtained secondary education is half of the better-off households. It is, however, worth noting that as much as 16 per cent of persons from well-off households have no education. They probably represent the older generation in well-off farm and cattle-raising households.

Harberger's findings applied to the Botswana context suggests that improving the quality of primary and secondary education in poor areas should be a priority area both for redistributive reasons and reasons of sustained economic growth.

6.3 Redistribution policies – government provision or transfers

It was argued that benefits are more effective instruments of income redistribution than progressive taxes. Furthermore, benefits provided in equal amounts to all households significantly improve income distribution and represent a notable improvement to the present situation in most countries, including Botswana. Besides, an equal amount to all households is easier to administer than a more complex system.

The question then arises, should benefits be given in the form of income transfers or through public provision of services? The government has the choice whether to produce services itself, outsource the provision of services to private companies, or pay poor households a transfer such that the household can purchase the good or service in question in the market. It has been argued in the literature (Arrow 1971) that the latter solution is better because the government does not know household preferences. This solution does, however, depend on the existence of an efficient market for the services in question, which is often not the case for services with properties of public goods such as education. Government interference is therefore necessary beyond transferring financial resources to households.

Whether the government should produce services itself or outsource to private providers depends on the relative effectiveness of the private and public sectors. In section 4 it was indicated that the private sector is on average not more effective than the government, while section 5 indicates that government provision of services is not very effective in a comparative perspective. Outsourcing and privatization will thus improve the quality and availability of public services to the poor only if it means increased competition and improved economies of scale for private sector providers.

To conclude, an equal income distribution is found to be positively correlated with growth. However, this merely states that countries that have an equal distribution of income in the first place tend to grow faster than countries with an unequal distribution of income. The literature provides little guidance as to how to achieve a more equal distribution of income. What is clear, however, is that universal access to education of good quality improves income distribution in the longer run. Redistribution of assets and access to credit for small enterprises probably have a similar effect. In contrast, a very progressive tax system does not improve distribution much, while discouraging private investment.

7 Challenges ahead and lessons for other developing countries

7.1 Challenges ahead

It follows from the analyses in this study that several challenges remain, which require that the Botswana Government give priority to:

- The poverty problem;
- Improving the quality of core public services;
- Scaling back from the provision non-core private goods and services;
- Creating space for the private sector.

Botswana can not solve its transitional problems merely by improving the quality of education and downsizing the government, however. Investment in human capital has a long gestation period, and diversification and job creation need to be a continuous process. During the process, private investment in productive activities is crucial. Private investment has to be funded from the country's savings, or from abroad. Hitherto, the national savings rate has been adequate to finance investments, but most of the savings have been on the government's hands. The projections presented in section 3 clearly show that government savings are on a declining trend in all conceivable scenarios.

In order to obtain an investment rate that is sufficient to sustain a growth rate of 5–6 per cent, the savings rate needs to be at least around 30 per cent. An important challenge for the government is to ensure that there are sufficient incentives for private savings. Taxation, monetary policy, housing policy and social security are important policy areas that affect private savings. Taxation and monetary policy affect the after tax return to private savings, while housing policy and social security affect the need for private households to save. It is probably necessary for the government to assess its policies in these areas focusing on how they affect private savings.

Investment and job creation are interrelated with income distribution. Savings and access to credit and education are important assets that could enable poor people to escape poverty. Botswana has generous investment incentives and credit programmes, e.g., the FAP, SME credit scheme etc. The challenge is to ensure that such programmes provide sufficient incentives to invest in competitive and sustainable small and medium-sized enterprises. This means that the return to investments should be positive both for the investor and the economy as a whole. In addition, it is necessary to assess whether there are unnecessary bureaucratic obstacles to private sector entrepreneurs, both foreign and local.

Job creation and investment incentives have been focused on manufacturing industries. Whether or not the emphasis on manufacturing is detrimental to other sectors should be assessed.²³ Botswana may be well placed to take advantage of recent developments within trade and investments in the service sectors. It is the fastest growing area of international trade and investment, and several developing countries export services such as back-office processing of documents, development of computer software and financial services to mention but a few. It is important that opportunities in these areas are not forgone in the effort to promote manufacturing industries. A possible approach is to create a business-friendly environment that is neutral with respect to industry. In addition, it is important to play an active role and take advantages of regional and international trade agreements.

²³⁾ The financial sector has recently been pointed out as a sector of great potential for employment and foreign exchange generation. Botswana also aims at becoming an international finance service centre (NDP 8).

7.2 Lessons for other developing countries and donors

Turning to lessons for other developing countries during transition from high inflows of foreign exchange to sustained development from local resources, it is important first to reiterate the conclusion of the "Assessing Aid" study (World Bank 1998): Aid enhances growth and development when the recipient country has sufficient absorption capacity and accountable institutions. This does not only apply to the central government's capacity to allocate resources to projects and account for the use of transfers. Equally important is the capacity to implement projects and the existence of complementary local resources. These capacities are most often lacking in aiddependent countries. Thus, capacity-building must go hand in hand with development aid and lower levels of government should receive more attention in this regard.

Development aid has some of the same features as mineral rents. It is an external transfer that in the first instance accrues to government. Aiddriven development therefore potentially imposes the same problems as those for a mineral-driven development. Furthermore, scaling back the level of development aid in a country that has had a long history as a recipient of aid may create the same kind of transition problems as those for a mineral-rich country. In particular, hysteresis appears to be a problem in the public sector. This means that a government activity or institution tends to persist and grow once it is established even if resources and changes in the circumstances suggest that it should be downsized or shut down altogether. Developments in Tanzania and Uganda illustrate this point. They built up a relatively large public sector that could not be sustained in the face of declining aid transfers. Both countries had to scale down their public sectors by more than 10 percentage points of GDP during the transition. However, as opposed to the situation in Botswana, downsizing of the public sector came as a consequence of an economic crisis. A crisis is usually not the ideal framework for reform and transfer of non-core government activities to the private sector. The crisis thus led to a decline in the quality of services due to under-funding in the first instance. Only after the return of donor transfers on the condition of reform, did the public sector undergo a genuine reform in Tanzania, while the public sector deficit went back to unsustainable levels in Uganda. The lesson from these experiences is that aid should be directed towards improving the quality of core government services rather than broadening the scope of government.

A donor-funded expansion of the public sector appears to require an ever increasing amount of transfers to be sustained. As soon as transfers level off or decline, a recession may easily result. Only if aid serves as a catalyst for local income generation about four to five times the amount transferred to the government, will aidfunded public expenditure be sustainable. This is most likely to happen when aid focuses on government core activities as emphasized above. In addition, aid should not fund unsustainable budget deficits over an extended period of time, since such deficits indicate that government expenditure does not increase the productive capacity of the economy.

Botswana's experience shows that government provision of services and use of scarce resources, particularly human capital, may crowd out the private sector. This does not only apply to activities that directly compete with or substitute for government services, but also to private sector activities in general. Donors' supply of goods and services and use of scarce resources in the recipient countries may in a similar way crowd out private sector activities in the recipient counties. Donors should take this aspect into account more explicitly when the costs and benefits of aid projects and programmes are assessed. This is of particular importance in the case of tied aid and in relation to the administration of aid projects and programmes. Integrating this in the recipient country's own budgeting and planning process, as has been done in Botswana, economizes on scarce human capital and administrative capacity.

Poverty reduction and a more equal distribution of income have been priority areas for donors and the Botswana government alike. Botswana has reduced poverty significantly since the 1970s. Yet, the most recent estimate of the incidence of poverty in Botswana suggests that close to 40 per cent of the population remain under the poverty line. Given Botswana's relatively high level of income per capita, and given the priority poverty alleviation has received, this is indeed worrying. Botswana's performance on this account raises the question whether both the government and donors have put too much emphasis on poverty alleviation at the expense of poverty reduction. The two are not the same thing and correspond to the classical distinction between "teaching a person how to fish rather than giving him fish." Hence, it is important to focus on poverty reduction measures that ensure equal opportunity through access to productive assets rather than

income distribution through taxes and handouts.

Put together, these findings have the following implications for aid:

- Aid to recipient countries' governments should aim at improving the quality of core government services rather than expanding the scope of government;
- The government budget deficit net of aid should be kept at sustainable levels;
- When the scale and scope of recipient governments are larger than what is considered optimal, donors should be careful about conditioning adjustment loans on that the recipient government mobilizes additional local resources.

References

- Auty, R.M, and R.F. Mikesell, 1998, *Sustainable Development in Mineral Economies*, Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Bank of Tanzania, 1999, "Economic Bulletin", vol. XXIX no. 1.
- Barro, R.J., 1990, "Government spending in a simple model of endogenous growth", *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 98, no. 5, pp. S103–S125.
- Barro, R.J., and J. Lee, 1993, "International comparison of educational attainment", *Journal of Monetary Economics*, vol. 32, pp. 363–394.
- Barro, R.J., and J. Lee, 1996, "International measures of schooling years and schooling quality", *American Economic Review Papers* and Proceedings vol. 86, pp. 218–223.
- BIDPA, 1997, "The poverty study", Government Printer, Gaborone, Botswana.
- Bøe, T., 2000, "Public sector size and productivity: A comparison between Botswana, Gabon, Mauritius, Tanzania, Uganda, Malaysia and New Zealand", mimeo, Chr. Michelsen Institute, Bergen, Norway.
- Central Statistics Office (CSO), 1995, "Household income and expenditure survey: 1993/94", Gaborone: Government Printer.
- Central Statistics Office (CSO), "Statistical Bulletin", several issues. Gaborone: Government Printer.
- Deininger, K. and L. Squire (1998): "New Ways of Looking at Old Issues: Inequality and Growth". *Journal of Development Economics* 57: 259–287.

- Dowrick, S., 1996, "Estimating the impact of government consumption on growth: Growth accounting and endogenous growth models", *Empirical Economics*, vol. 21, pp. 163–186.
- Ferris, J.S., and E.G. West, 1996, "The cost of disease and government growth, Qualifications to Baumol", *Public Choice*, vol. 89, pp. 35–52.
- Galor, O. and J. Zeira, 1993, "Income distribution and macroeconomics", *Review of Economic Studies*, vol. 60, pp. 35–52.
- Gergis, A., 2000, "The scope of government activities in Botswana", mimeo, BIDPA, Gaborone, Botswana.
- Government of Botswana, 1997, National Development Plan 8 1997/98-2002/03, Gaborone: Government Printer.
- Government of Botswana/UNDP, 1998, Botswana Human Development Report 1997, Challenges for Sustainable Human Development, A Longer Time Perspective, Gaborone: TA Publications.
- Granberg, P., 2000, "The HIV/AIDS impact on the public sector", mimeo, Chr. Michelsen Institute, Bergen, Norway.
- Hagen, R. J., 2000, "Public spending on education and health. Botswana in a comparative perspective", mimeo, Foundation for Research in Economics and Business Administration, Bergen, Norway.
- Harberger, A.C., 1998, "Monetary and fiscal policy for equitable economic growth", in Tanzi and Chu, *Income Distribution and High-Quality Growth*, Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.

- Harvey, C. and S. R. Lewis (1990): *Policy Choice and Development Performance in Botswana*. Macmillan.
- Jeffris, K., 1999, "The long term impact of structural economic change on government spending", BIDPA working paper no. 20.
- Kuznets, S. 1955, "Economic growth and income inequality", American Economic Review, vol. 45, pp. 1–28.
- Maddison, A., 1995, "Monitoring the world economy 1820–1992", OECD: Development Centre Studies.
- Mandlebe, W., 1997, "Trends in real wages and labour productivity in Botswana", in Salkin, Mpanbanga, Cowan, Selwe and Wright, 1997, *Aspects of the Botswana Economy*, Gaborone: Bank of Botswana.
- Nordås, H.K., 2000, "The scale and role of government in growth and income distribution: The case of Botswana", mimeo, Chr. Michelsen Institute, Bergen, Norway.
- Nordås, H. K., G. Sekgoma, and G. Somolekae (1998): "Managing Good Fortune. Macroeconomic Management and the Role of Aid in Botswana", Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs: Evaluation Report no. 6.98.
 - Perotti, R. (1996): "Growth, Income Distribution, and Democracy: What the Data Say". *Journal of Economic Growth* 1: 149–187.

- Republic of Botswana, 1996, "Living conditions in Botswana: 1986 to 1994", Gaborone: Government Printer.
- Republic of Botswana, 1998, "1994/96 Labour force survey", Gaborone: Central Statistics Service.
- Rodriguez, F. and J. D. Sachs, 1999, "Why do resource-abundant economies grow more slowly?" *Journal of Economic Growth*, vol. 4 no. 3, pp. 277–303.
- Stiglitz, J.E, 1998, "The role of government in the contemporary world", Chapter 3 in Tanzi and Chu, *Income Distribution and High-Quality Growth*, Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press
- The World Bank, 1989, *Botswana: Financial Policies for Diversified Growth*, Report No. 7690-BT.
- World Bank, 1997, World Development Report 1997. The State in a Changing World. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- World Bank, 1998, *Assessing Aid*, Washington D.C.: World Bank.
- World Bank, 1999, World Development Indicators, Washington D.C.: World Bank.

EVALUATION REPORTS

1.87	The Water Supply Programme in Western Province, Zambia
2.87	Sosio-kulturelle forhold i bistanden
3.87	Summary Findings of 23 Evaluation Reports
4.87	NORAD's Provisions for Investment Support
5.87	Multiateral bistand gjennom FN-systemet
6.87	Promoting Imports from Developing Countries
1.88	UNIFEM - United Nations Development Fund for Women
2.88	The Norwegian Multi-Bilateral Programme under UNFPA
3.88	Rural Roads Maintenance, Mbeya and Tanga Regions,
	Tanzania
4.88	Import Support, Tanzania
5.88	Nordic Technical Assistance Personnel to Eastern Africa
6.88	Good Aid for Women?
7.88	Soil Science Fellowship Course in Norway
1.89	Parallel Financing and Mixed Credits
2.89	The Women's Grant. Desk Study Review
3.89	The Norwegian Volunteer Service
4.89	Fisheries Research Vessel - "Dr. Fridtjof Nansen"
5.89	Institute of Development Management, Tanzania
6.89	DUHs Forskningsprogrammer
7.89	Rural water Supply, Zimbabwe
8.89	Commodity Import Programme, Zimbabwe
9.89	Dairy Sector Support, Zimbabwe
1 00	Mini-Hydropower Plants Lesotho
2 00	Operation and Maintenance in Development Assistance
3.00	Telecommunications in SADCC Countries
1 90	Fnergy Support in SADCC Countries
5.90	Intentional Research and Training Institute for Advancement
0.00	of Women (INSTRAW)
6.90	Socio-Cultural Conditions in Development Assistance
7.90	Non-Project Financial Assistance to Mozambique
1.00	Ton Project Phaneiar Resistance to Mozanoique
1.91	Hielp til Selvhielp og Levedyktig Utvikling
2.91	Diploma Courses at the Norwegian Institute of Technology
3.91	The Women's Grant in Bilateral Assistance
4.91	Hambantota Integrated Rural Development Programme,
	Sri Lanka
5.91	The Special Grant for Environment and Development
1.92	NGOs as Partners in Health Care, Zambia
2.92	The Sahel-Sudan-Ethiopia Programme
3.92	De Private Organisasjonene som Kanal for Norsk Bistand,
	Fase l
1.93	Internal Learning from Evaluations and Reviews
2.93	Macroeconomic Impacts of Import Support to Tanzania
3.93	Garantiordning for Investeringer i og Eksport til Utviklingsland
4.93	Capacity-Building in Development Cooperation Towards
	Integration and Recipient Responsibility
1.04	Destador of Westing and Deservation
1.94	Evaluation of World Food Programme
2.94	Evaluation of the Norwegian Junior Expert Programme with
	UN Organisations
1.05	Technical Cooperation in Transition
2.05	Fugluering av FN combandet i Norge
2.55	NGOs as a Channel in Development aid
34.95	Robos as a Chaliner in Development au Rapport fra Presentasionsmate av «Evalueringen av de
011.00	Frivillige Organisasioner»
4 95	Rural Development and Local Government in Tanzania
5.95	Integration of Environmental Concerns into Norwegian
0.00	Bilateral Development Assistance
	Policies and Performance
1.96	NORAD's Support of the Remote Area Development
	Programme (RADP) in Botswana
2.96	Norwegian Development Aid Experiences. A Review of
	Evaluation Studies 1986–92
3.96	The Norwegian People's Aid Mine Clearance Project in
	Cambodia
4.96	Democratic Global Civil Governance Report of the 1995
	Benchmark Survey of NGOs
5.96	Evaluation of the Yearbook "Human Rights in Developing
	Countries"

1.97	Evaluation of Norwegian Assistance to Prevent and Control HIV/AIDS
2.97	«Kultursjokk og Korrektiv» – Evaluering av UD/NORADs Studiereiser for Lærere
3.97	Evaluation of Decentralisation and Development
4.07	Evaluation of Norwagian Assistance to Posce Reconciliation
4.37	Evaluation of Norwegian Assistance to Feace, Reconcination
	and Rehabilitation in Mozambique
5.97	Aid to Basic Education in Africa – Opportunities and
	Constraints
6 97	Norwegian Church Aid's Humanitarian and Peace-Making
0.01	Work in Moli
7.97	Aid as a Tool for Promotion of Human Rights and Democracy:
	What can Norway do?
8.97	Evaluation of the Nordic Africa Institute, Uppsala
9.97	Evaluation of Norwegian Assistance to Worldview International
	Foundation
10.07	Devices of Manuscrice Assistence to IDC
10.97	Review of Norwegian Assistance to IPS
11.97	Evaluation of Norwegian Humanitarian Assistance to the Sudan
12.97	Cooperation for Health Development
	WHO's Support to Programmes at Country Level
1.08	"Twinning for Development" Institutional Cooperation
1.50	
	between Public Institutions in Norway and the South
2.98	Institutional Cooperation between Sokoine and Norwegian
	Agricultural Universities
3.98	Development through Institutions? Institutional Development
0.00	Promoted by Norwagian Private Companies and Consulting
	Finner
	Firms
4.98	Development through Institutions? Institutional Development
	Promoted by Norwegian Non-Governmental Organisations
5.98	Development through Institutions? Institutional Development
	in Norwagian Bilateral Assistance Synthesis Report
6.00	Managing Cood Fortune Magnetic Synthesis Report
0.98	Managing Good Fortune – Macroeconomic Management and
	the Role of Aid in Botswana
7.98	The World Bank and Poverty in Africa
8.98	Evaluation of the Norwegian Program for Indigenous Peoples
9.98	Evaluering av Informasionsstøtten til RORGene
10.98	Strategy for Assistance to Children in Norwegian Development
10.50	Comparison
	Cooperation
11.98	Norwegian Assistance to Countries in Conflict
12.98	Evaluation of the Development Cooperation between Norway
	and Nicaragua
13.98	UNICEF-komiteen i Norge
1/ 08	Relief in Complex Emergencies
14.50	Relief in Complex Emergencies
1.99	WID/Gender Units and the Experience of Gender
	Mainstreaming in Multilateral Organisations
2.99	International Planned Parenthood Federation – Policy and
	Effectiveness at Country and Regional Levels
3.00	Evaluation of Norwagian Support to Psycho Social Projects in
5.99	Evaluation of Norwegian Support to Esycho-Social Projects in
	Bosnia-Herzegovina and the Caucasus
4.99	Evaluation of the Tanzania-Norway Development Cooperation
	1994–1997
5.99	Building African Consulting Capacity
6 99	Aid and Conditionality
7.00	Policica and Stratagica for Departy Poduction in Norwagian
1.99	Folicies and Strategies for Foverty Reduction in Norwegian
	Development Aid
8.99	Aid Coordination and Aid Effectiveness
9.99	Evaluation of the United Nations Capital Development Fund
	(UNCDF)
10.99	Evaluation of AWEPA The Association of European
10.00	Barliamontariana for Africa, and AEL The African European
	Faritamentarians for Anrea, and AEI, The Anrean European
	Institute
1.00	Review of Norwegian Health-related Development Cooperation
	1988–1997
2.00	Norwegian Support to the Education Sector, Overview of
2.00	Policies and Trands 1082 1002
0.00	The Device of WT activity of the Device in O and the Adding
3.00	The Project "Training for Peace in Southern Africa"
4.00	En kartlegging av erfaringer med norsk bistand gjennom
	frivillige organisasjoner 1987–1999
5.00	Evaluation of the NUFU-programme
6.00	Making Government Smaller and More Efficient
0.00	The Botswana Case
	The Dotswalla Case

Published by The Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs 7. juniplassen 1/Victoria Terrasse P.O. Box 8114 Dep., 0032 Oslo NORWAY

Evaluation reports may be ordered from: E-mail: eval@mfa.no Fax: +47 22 24 27 51 Tel: +47 22 24 35 01

